

Transgenic Rice

Toshihiko Komari^{*} • Yuji Ishida • Yukoh Hiei

Plant Innovation Center, Japan Tobacco Inc., 700 Higashibara, Iwata, Shizuoka 438-0802, Japan Corresponding author: * toshihiko.komari@ims.jti.co.jp

ABSTRACT

Rice is a remarkable plant and has been the staple food for nearly half of the world population as well as an excellent model plant in molecular biology and genomics. Genetic transformation has been an indispensable technique both in rice improvement and in basic studies ever since it became possible about two decades ago. Electroporation or polyethylene glycol-mediated transformation of protoplasts was employed in the beginning and followed by particle bombardment. Efficient methods employing *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* were then developed in the mid 1990s. Many of the gene transfers to rice have been mediated by *A. tumefaciens* for the last 10 years. Targets in improvement of rice crops include agronomic traits such as high yield, resistance to disease and insects, and tolerance to drought, low and high temperature, high salinity, and herbicides, modification of nutritional and quality factors such as vitamins, minerals, protein, lipid and starch, and capability of producing specific proteins and other metabolites. The scope of rice transformation experiments in basic studies is also complex, covering analysis of gene functions, assays of promoters, complementation of mutations, and tests of tissue culture protocols. Rice has especially been valuable in the examination of genes from other cereals and in the development of genomic resources like large-scale libraries of transformants with T-DNA insertions. Transformation technology has been continuously optimized to support diverse applications so that wider genotypes can be transformed at a higher efficiency. In this review, key developments in the studies of transgenic rice are reviewed with an emphasis on recent achievements.

Keywords: Agrobacterium tumefaciens, Oryza sativa L., transformation

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	118
TISSUE CULTURE TECHNOLOGY FOR RICE TRANSFORMATION	119
MOLECULAR TOOLS RELATED TO RICE TRANSFORMATION	120
Selection markers	120
Site-specific recombination systems	120
Co-transformation	120
Reduction of transfer of "vector backbone" sequences	120
Gene targeting	121
Additional virulence genes	121
Matrix attachment region (MAR)	121
TRANSGENIC PLANTS IN RICE FUNCTIONAL GENOMICS	121
TRANSGENIC PLANTS IN RICE MOLECULAR BIOLOGY	121
EFFORTS TO DEVELOP USEFUL TRAITS IN TRANSGENIC RICE	121
Disease resistance	122
Insect resistance	122
Abiotic stress tolerance	123
Quality traits	124
Production of proteins for pharmaceutical and industrial applications	124
STRUCTURE AND EXPRESSION OF THE TRANSGENES IN RICE	124
COMMERCIALIZATION OF TRANSGENIC RICE	125
CONCLUDING REMARKS	125
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	126
REFERENCES 1	126

INTRODUCTION

Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) is one of the three most important crops in the world along with maize and wheat. While the other two are predominantly used as feed or as food after extensive processing, rice is mostly consumed directly by humans without much industrial handling. Compared to other starchy crops, rice grains do not require long and tedious cooking steps before eating. Thus, rice was, is and will be the most valuable food crop to support the rapidly growing world population. Global rice production is currently 417 million tons from 153 million hectares of field (USDA, Rice Yearbook 2006), feeding nearly half of the world population, predominantly in developing countries. The demand is expected to increase even further in the coming decades.

Rice is one of the three plants that have been used most frequently in transformation experiments in the studies of plant molecular biology, biotechnology and genomics along with tobacco and Arabidopsis. While the other two are employed primarily as model plants, rice serves well both as a

Material	Target cells	Advantage	Disadvantage
Immature embryo	Scutellum cells starting	High transformation efficiency	Fresh embryo needed every time
	dedifferentiated growth	Low genotype dependencyShort tissue culture period	Plant growth facility with good air-conditioning and strong light is needed
Callus from immature embryo	Dedifferentiated cells	Better in quality than callus from mature seed	Direct use of immature embryo is much more advantageous
Pre-cultured mature seed	Scutellum cells starting	Short tissue culture period	Success has been reported in limited genotypes.
	dedifferentiated growth	Long term storage of seed possible	
Germinating mature seed	Cells in apical meristem	Short pre-treatment (imbibition)	Limited success has been reported in limited
		Little tissue culture period	genotypes.
		Long term storage of seed possible	
Callus from mature seed	Dedifferentiated cells	No special facility required for preparation of materials	 Low transformation efficiency in many genotypes Long tissue culture period
		Long term storage of seed possible	

Table 1 Starting materials for transformation of rice.

model of cereals and other monocotyledons and as a target of crop improvement. Tissue culture and gene transfer methods have been well established in rice, and the cultivation of rice in artificial environments is relatively straightforward. Because of its upright posture, a tiller of rice, which could be considered as a unit plant with all essential organs, occupies a very small area. Thus, experimental cultivation of rice is very space-efficient and could even be more so than Arabidopsis.

Diverse varieties are known in both of the two subspecies of rice, indica and japonica. The subspecies are generally grown in different areas, and each subspecies includes varieties suitable for tropical, subtropical and temperate regions. Tropical japonica varieties are often mentioned as the third group, javanica. The indica variety occupies 80% of the rice cultivation areas in the world. Indica has been considered to be recalcitrant in tissue culture and transformation compared to japonica, but these drawbacks are being overcome by various efforts. Another important feature of rice is that diverse genotypes across the species may be transformed reasonably well.

Therefore, rice is quite unique and remarkable in many ways and is being extensively studied in basic and applied sciences, in which gene transfer techniques have been a key technology. In this article, key developments in the studies of transgenic rice are reviewed with an emphasis on recent achievements.

TISSUE CULTURE TECHNOLOGY FOR RICE TRANSFORMATION

Transgenic rice was first produced by direct gene transfer to protoplasts mediated by electroporation or polyethylene glycol in the late 1980s (Klöti and Potrykus 1999), followed by development of a particle bombardment method and regeneration of transformants from the scutellum cells of immature embryos (Christou et al. 1991). Methods employing the soil bacterium Agrobacterium tumefaciens were then developed in the mid 1990s (Hiei et al. 1994). Callus cells induced from the scutella of mature seeds of japonica rice were inoculated with A. tumefaciens, and a large number of transgenic plants were produced. At present, both Agrobacterium-mediated transformation and particle bombardment are in use, and techniques requiring protoplasts or the "whisker" method (Mizuno et al. 2004), in which micro fibers of silicon carbide mediate gene transfer, are rarely used.

Advantages of *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation include high efficiency of transformation, integration of small numbers of copies of T-DNA (transfer DNA) into the chromosomes, transfer of relatively large segments of DNA with defined ends and little rearrangement of T-DNA upon transformation. Therefore, *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation soon became much more popular in rice than other techniques. Our quick survey of about 300 the recent papers, in which the transformation of rice is described, revealed that more than 80% of the studies used *A. tumefaciens* as a tool for gene transfer. Because *Agrobacterium*- mediated transformation intrinsically depends on the complex biological interaction between bacterial and plant cells, specific vectors with components that facilitate the transfer of DNA through this interaction are needed, and manipulation of complicated biological systems is required for optimization of the experimental protocols. On the other hand, in particle bombardment, which is purely a physical process, ordinary high-copy cloning vectors for *Escherichia coli* are sufficient, and gene construction steps may be very simple.

Starting materials used in Agrobacterium-mediated transformation and particle bombardment are listed in Table 1. There is no difference between the two techniques in this regard. Immature embryos appeared to be the materials that can be most efficiently transformed. The advantage of immature embryos was evident in the transformation of indica rice, which was much less efficient than japonica and javanica, because indica is generally quite recalcitrant in tissue culture and transformation. Successful transformation of indica was initially achieved only by using immature embryos via particle bombardment (Christou et al. 1991) and via A. tumefaciens (Aldemita and Hodges 1996). Recently, protocols for transformation of immature embryos mediated by A. tumefaciens was highly optimized so that diverse elite genotypes of indica were efficiently transformed and, in the highest case, more than 12 independent transgenic plants on average were regenerated from a single embryo of cultivar IR72 that had been co-cultivated with A. tumefaciens (Hiei et al. 2006; Hiei and Komari 2006). The use of immature embryos was also very effective in japonica, especially in high-quality, recalcitrant genotypes such as Koshihikari (Hiei et al. 2006). The key factors in successful use of immature embryos in both japonica and indica were 1) use of healthy, fresh immature embryos from plants in well-conditioned glasshouses, 2) optimization of media compositions, and 3) treatment of embryos before infection with heat and centrifugal forces (Hiei et al. 2006). It was suggested that a shorter tissue culture period may reduce so-called somaclonal variation, which could be detected in field trials of transgenic rice (Kim et al. 2004), and the use of immature embryos is preferable in this respect.

Although the use of immature embryos might be able to resolve much of the issue of genotype dependency of transformation protocols in rice, the limitation is that it is quite expensive in practice to create well-conditioned glasshouses with appropriated air-conditioning and supplemental lights available year round. Many laboratories cannot afford such a facility. Thus, the use of callus derived from mature seeds is still popular, although the frequency of transformation is relatively low and painstaking efforts seem to be required on a genotype-by-genotype basis. Indeed, most of the recent studies reporting improved protocols for transformation mediated by A. tumefaciens (Park et al. 2003; Rachmawati et al. 2004; Hoque et al. 2005; Kumar et al. 2005; Lin and Zhang 2005) and by bombardment (Martinez-Trujillo et al. 2003; Visarada and Sarma 2004) focused on optimization of preparation and handling of the callus in various genotypes. This tendency poses an important question of whether it is a right approach in the scientific community to allow such remote efforts, which are substantial if combined, to be continued to establish protocols for transformation of the callus for specific genotypes one by one, when such genotypes may already be transformed efficiently by using immature embryos. It may be far more economical in terms of resources required for scientific research to establish consortiums of academic, public and private organizations, for example, to construct and manage a laboratory, which has an extensive greenhouse facility to supply good immature embryos, which is dedicated to plant transformation and which can perform all of transformation experiments for the scientists involved.

Pre-cultured mature seeds may also be used (Toki *et al.* 2006). So far, this method was used for only the japonica genotype 'Nipponbare', which shows good tissue response, but the frequency of transformation was reasonably high and the total tissue culture period may be as short as that of immature embryo methods. In another approach, apical meristems were targeted by piercing imbibed seeds of cv. 'Koshihikari' with a needle that had been dipped in a suspension of *A. tumefaciens* (Supartana *et al.* 2005). Expression of the marker gene in, detection of the transgene by PCR from and rescue of the integrated T-DNA from the progeny plants were reported, but Southern hybridization data were not presented. If this result is reproducible, the method will be very useful as the requirement for *in vitro* techniques is minimal.

In Arabidopsis, floral spray or floral dip methods of transformation (Chung *et al.* 2000), in which plants that had just started to flower were sprayed with or dipped in a suspension of *A. tumefaciens*. These methods are truly free from tissue-culture. If similar technology is developed in rice, it would be very useful. Ovules are thought to be the target of *A. tumefaciens* in Arabidopsis. It is still an open question whether it is possible to develop a technique to make *A. tumefaciens* enter the locule at the right stage in rice plants.

The molecular basis behind varietal differences in responses in callus induction and the regeneration of plants from the callus is poorly understood in any species of plants. A rare example was a finding that low nitrate reductase activity caused a poor tissue culture response in 'Koshihikari' and related cultivars (Nishimura *et al.* 2005; Ozawa and Kawahigashi 2006), and this finding led to development of improved protocols of tissue culture and transformation of these cultivars.

MOLECULAR TOOLS RELATED TO RICE TRANSFORMATION

Selection markers

The hygromycin resistance gene has been most frequently employed in rice, and other selection marker genes, such as herbicide resistance genes, have also contributed to the development of efficient transformation protocols. Choice of selective pressures and selectable marker genes is a key factor in efficient transformation, and there is always the possibility that better markers can be found. More than 20 selectable marker genes have been tested in various plants to date (Komari et al. 2006) and the number is growing. Thus, many candidate marker genes are available for tests in rice, and several new entries in the rice arena have been reported. The new markers include a feedback-insensitive α subunit of anthranilate synthase, which confers resistance to a tryptophan analog, 5-methyltryptophan (5MT) (Yamada et al. 2004) and an arabitol dehydrogenase gene, which confers capability to metabolize arabitol (LaFayette et al. 2005). It was recently reported that over-expression of the gene for the beta subunit of tryptophan synthase (AtTSB1) gave resistance to the tryptophan analog and a heavy metal in Arabidopsis (Hsiao et al. 2007). Thus, this gene may also be a useful marker in rice. A green fluorescent gene fused to the N-terminus of blastcidin S deaminase confers both resistance to blastcidin and fluorescence, which

allows rapid identification of transformed cells expressing a high level of the transgenes (Ochiai-Fukuda *et al.* 2006). In addition, a nitrate reductase gene was an efficient selection marker for rice cultivars that showed low nitrate reductase activity (Nishimura *et al.* 2005; Ozawa and Kawahigashi 2006).

The fact that cells growing fast tend to lower the pH of the surrounding medium resulted in a technique for quick identification of transformed cells (Oreifig *et al.* 2004). An aminoglycoside-3"-adenyltransferase gene was introduced into rice cells, and the cells were cultured on a medium with a low level of streptomycin and a pH indicator. Transformants were quickly revealed by monitoring the change in color of the medium.

Site-specific recombination systems

Recombinases from phages and yeasts, such as Cre, FLP and R, which recombine specific sites, loxP, FRT and RS, respectively, are powerful tools to remove selection marker genes and other unneeded segments from plants. Recent studies of these systems in rice have focused on how the recombinase activity is expressed in the target cells for effective excision of target segments. For example, transgenic lines that contained the *loxP* sites were crossed with lines that expressed the Cre gene (Moore and Srivastava 2006). It was reported that callus induction from the F_1 seeds obtained between a line with the RS sites and a line with the R gene was an effective method for activating the recombination reaction (Toriyama et al. 2003). A chemically regulated Cre gene was constructed and used to recombine the loxP sites present in rice cells (Sreekala et al. 2005). A chimeric Cre recombinase, which can permeate the plant cell membrane, was created by fusing a 12-amino-acid membrane translocation sequence from the epidermal growth factor-4 of a Kaposi fibroblast with the Cre protein. Re-combination between the loxP sites was observed in the rice cells that absorbed the chimeric protein (Cao et al. 2006).

Co-transformation

Another method for elimination of selection marker genes takes advantage of natural genetic segregation. Rice can be co-transformed efficiently with two T-DNA segments, one with genes of interest and the other with a selection marker gene, mediated by *A. tumefaciens*, and transgenic plants free from of the marker gene may be segregated in the progeny (Komari *et al.* 1996). This technique was used in the development of transgenic lines intended for commercialization (Maruta *et al.* 2001). Recently, a new binary vector with two T-DNA segments was tested in three elite cultivars of japonica indica, and the frequency of both the cotransformants and the transgenic plants from which marker free progeny were obtained was high (Breitler *et al.* 2004). Thus, the co-transformation technique may be efficiently employed in diverse genotypes in rice.

Reduction of transfer of "vector backbone" sequences

It had been believed for a long time that only T-DNA delimited by the border sequences had been transferred from *A. tumefaciens* to plant cells. However, integration of socalled "vector backbone" sequences was found to be not uncommon and became a serious issue especially in development of commercial transformants. Failure of the termination in the process of generation of T-DNA transfer intermediates at the left border of T-DNA appeared to be a major cause of this undesired phenomenon in rice (Kuraya *et al.* 2004). A method recently examined in rice was to place one, two or three additional copies of the left border sequences in transformation vectors, suppressing the transfer of the segment outside T-DNA to plant cells in a nearly perfect fashion (Kuraya *et al.* 2004).

Gene targeting

Gene targeting, which would allow specific modification of endogenous genes, has been a routine technique in various microorganisms and animals, but only limited success had been reported in plants. A breakthrough study was made in rice. A disrupted version of the waxy gene was delivered by *A. tumefaciens* to rice, and the endogenous allele was precisely replaced by homologous recombination (Terada *et al.* 2002). Relatively long stretches of flanking sequences and the use of strong positive/negative selection were key factors. Therefore, modification of genomes by gene targeting became a realistic option in higher plants. Further improvements and application of the technology have been discussed in recent reviews (Iida and Terada 2004; Cotsaftis and Guiderdoni 2005).

Additional virulence genes

Genes involved in the transfer of T-DNA are clustered in the virulence region in Ti-plasmids (tumor-inducing plasmids) in *A. tumefaciens*. It has been reported that additional virulence genes, such as *virB* and *virG* genes from a Ti plasmid, pTiBo542, carried by vectors improved the efficiency of transformation in plants including rice (Hiei *et al.* 1994). A recent finding in this regard was that the *virG* gene from another Ti plasmid, pTiAch5, elevated the efficiency of rice transformation when it was carried by the pGreen/pSoup dual binary vector system, in which the pGreen vector is replicated in *A. tumefaciens* by replication functions present in pSoup (Vain *et al.* 2004). Thus, the most effective gene or gene combinations may vary depending on the vectors, genotypes of rice and methods of transformation.

Matrix attachment region (MAR)

The matrix attachment region (MAR) is an element in eukaryotic genomes that mediates binding of chromatin to the nuclear matrix. Expression of foreign genes was found to be influenced by MAR elements placed nearby in various plants. Recent studies revealed that MAR elements, Rb7 and TM2 from tobacco and BP from the chicken lysozyme locus, can increase the level of and reduce variability in the expression of transgenes co-integrated with the elements in rice (Oh *et al.* 2005; Verma *et al.* 2005; Xue *et al.* 2005).

TRANSGENIC PLANTS IN RICE FUNCTIONAL GENOMICS

There is no question that transformation technology is a key tool in functional genomics. Because the rice genome was completely sequenced and mapped by the International Rice Genome Sequencing Project (2005), the role of transformation has grown even bigger. An approach exploiting transformation technology dedicated to functional genomics taken by a number of leading laboratories is the construction of large-scale libraries of T-DNA insertions in transgenic rice (Ryu et al. 2004; Sallaud et al. 2004; Johnson et al. 2005). As described in a recent review (An et al. 2005), different types of libraries have been constructed for various purposes, including 1) insertional mutagenesis, in which T-DNA is used to disrupt rice genes, 2) activation tagging, in which T-DNA with enhancer elements is used to activate adjacent genes, 3) a promoter trap, in which reporter genes without promoters are to be turned on by rice promoters, 4) an enhancer trap, in which expression of reporter genes with minimal promoters are to be boosted by rice enhancer elements, and 5) a gene trap, in which reporter genes are to be expressed as fusions with rice genes. These libraries are being utilized to clone and study various genes and regulatory elements. Databases of the sequences that flank T-DNA insertions are very useful for quick identification of transgenic plants with the desired insertions (Jeong et al. 2006).

Cloning of rice genes based on information from genetic maps (map-based cloning) has now become a popular practice, and transformation experiments provide key data to confirm gene functions. For example, in a project of cloning of the Rf-1 gene (Komori et al. 2004), which is a fertility restorer gene for a type of cytoplasmic male sterility in rice, the location of the gene was first narrowed down to a segment of 76 kb in the genome by fine genetic mapping experiments, and a series of overlapping fragments from this region were transferred to male sterile rice. The Rf-1 gene was eventually identified from a fragment that restored the fertility of the transformants. This approach is quite useful in the isolation of genes from quantitative trait loci (Nishi-mura et al. 2005; Ozawa and Kawahigashi 2006). In this context, genomic libraries constructed by using vectors, such as BIBAC and TAC, that can accommodate very large DNA fragments and can be used to transform rice are valuable resources (He et al. 2003; Xu et al. 2004).

Another simple application of transformation technology is the examination of phenotypic effects by cloned genes in transgenic rice. The highly efficient capability of rice transformation may be exploited to screen a large number of genes for useful phenotypic effects in transgenic rice. An attempt was made to combine a high-throughput rice transformation system generating tens of thousand of transgenic plants annually and an automated plant measuring setup, and a number of lead genes for improved quantitative traits, such as an increased number of seeds, have been identified (Reuzeau *et al.* 2006).

TRANSGENIC PLANTS IN RICE MOLECULAR BIOLOGY

Because genetic transformation is one of the most important basic tools in molecular biology, countless numbers of transgenic rice plants are being produced daily in various studies. Typically, the effects of over expression or regulated expression of genes from rice or other organisms or down regulation of internal rice genes are being examined in transgenic rice. Examples of the studies in various areas of research are cited in **Table 2**. It is clear at a glance at the citations that every single important issue in plant science is continuously addressed in rice. In a sense, rice in monocotyledonous plants is the counterpart of Arabidopsis in dicotyledonous plants, but the outcomes of research on rice mean much more because they have direct links to the breeding of rice as an important crop.

Transgenic plants are also useful in the studies on promoters. The scopes of studies on promoters are often broad, covering the analysis of expression patterns and the regulation of rice genes, investigation of similarity or difference in activity and regulation of promoters across species, tests of promoters for engineering of rice and dissection of *cis* and *trans* regulatory elements for promoters (Suzuki and Burnell 2003; Wang and Oard 2003; Koyama *et al.* 2005; Li *et al.* 2005; Nomura *et al.* 2005). Rice often plays a role as a surrogate species for plants recalcitrant in transformation.

EFFORTS TO DEVELOP USEFUL TRAITS IN TRANSGENIC RICE

Extensive efforts to develop transgenic traits for crop improvement and other purposes are being concentrated on rice to date. Targeted traits include disease resistance, insect resistance, tolerance to abiotic stresses, improvement in rice grain quality, nutritional fortification and capability to produce useful substances. Recent developments are discussed trait by trait below. Although an increase in crop yield is, of course, one of the most desired traits, no sub-heading for yield increase is provided here. Crop yield is an accumulated result of multiple, complex biological processes, and, in a sense, the ultimate goal of all agronomic traits is in an increase in yield. Thus, related studies are mentioned elsewhere in this article with more specific key words, such as photosynthesis, flow of carbons, phytohormones, etc.

	T 1			1	•		•	•	1 .	. 11
Tahlo 7	Hyamn	er ot	geneg	tected	111	trancoente	TICE	111	hagie	ctudiec
Table 2	LAamp		genes	usicu	ш	uansgeme	nuc	ш	Dasie	studies.
			0			0				

Research area	Gene	Origin	Expression	Gene effect	Reference
Starch synthesis	Mutant ADP-glucose	Escherichia coli	Endosperm specific	Increased seed weight	Sakulsingharoj <i>et al.</i> 2004
	insensitive to allosteric regulation		speeme		2001
Photosynthesis	Sucrose phosphate synthase (SPS)	Maize	Constitutive	Elevated photosynthetic activity and carbon export rate under higher CO ₂ level	Ono et al. 2003
	Phospho <i>enol</i> pyruvate carboxylase (PEPC)	Maize	Constitutive	Increased photosynthetic capacity and tolerance to photoinhibition	Jiao et al. 2005
	PEPC	Maize	Own promoter	Higher exudation of oxalate from roots under phosphorus-deficient conditions	Begum et al. 2005
	Phospho <i>enol</i> pyruvate carboxykinase (PCK)	Urochloa panicoides	Leaf specific	Generated a flow of carbon from CO ₂ to C4 acids, and additional introduction of maize PEPC had little influence	Suzuki et al. 2006
Nitrogen metabolism	Ammonium transporter (OsAMT-1)	Rice	Constitutive	Increased uptake of ammonium and decreased biomass of shoot and root	Hoque et al. 2006
Phytohormone	Mutant <i>OsIAA3</i> stable in the presence of auxin	Rice	Constitutive	Auxin insensitive	Nakamura et al. 2006
	Gibberellin (GA) 2- oxidase	Rice	Promoter of GA biosynthesis gene	Semi-dwarf with normal flowering and grain development	Sakamoto et al. 2003
	Antibody against GA _{24/19}	Mouse	Companion cell specific	Dwarf	Tanaka et al. 2004
Photoperiodic flowering pathway	Homologue to <i>CONSTANS</i> in Arabidopsis	Wheat	Own promoter	Complemented deficiency in Hd1 function	Nemoto et al. 2003
Programmed cell death	Dihydroflavonol-4- reductase	Maize	Constitutive	Elevated level of NAD(P)H pool and prevented induced cell death	Hayashi et al. 2005
Morphology	Phytochrome A	Arabidopsis	Constitutive	Reduced plant height, inter-node diameter and increased grain yield	Garg et al. 2006
	OsRAA1	Rice	Constitutive	Reduced growth of primary root, increased number of adventitious roots and delayed gravitropic response of roots, which were similar to the phenotypes of wild-type plants treated with auxin	Ge et al. 2004
	TERMINAL FLOWER 1/CENTRORADIALIS	Rice	Constitutive	Increased number of internodes, shortened length, altered radial patterns in the elongated inter-nodes, delayed heading and caused abnormal panicle architecture	Zhang et al. 2005
Growth	Wound inducible MAP kinase	Pepper	Constitutive	Inhibited germination and seedling growth	Lee and Back 2005
Porphyrin metabolism	5-aminolevulinic acid synthase	Bradyrhizobium japonicum	Constitutive	Induced photodynamic damage	Jung et al. 2004
Defense responses	<i>N</i> -(hydroxycinnamoyl) transferase	Pepper	Constitutive	Production of coumaryolserotoin and feruloylserotonin	Jang et al. 2004
	Metallothionein	Rice	Constitutive	Increased susceptibility to pathogens	Wong et al. 2004
			Down regulation	Higher elicitor-induced production of hydrogen peroxide	
Interaction with bacteria	Lectin (psl, gs52)	Pea and wild- soybean (<i>Glycine soja</i>), respectively	Constitutive	Promoted rhizoial colonization of roots in rice	Sreevidya <i>et al.</i> 2005
Fertility restorer for cytoplasmic male sterility	<i>Rf-1a</i> , <i>Rf-1b</i>	Rice	Constitutive	Fertility restored by silencing mRNA for a cytotoxic peptide	Wang <i>et al.</i> 2006

Disease resistance

Disease resistance genes, which have been recently evaluated in transgenic rice, are listed in **Table 3**. The most important target appears to be rice blast caused by *Magnaporthe grisea*, and a number of genes from various origins provided elevated levels of resistance to blast. Certain genes were able to offer resistance to multiple pathogens, sometimes to both fungal and bacterial pathogens, and combinations of genes were often very effective. Unlike studies of insect resistance genes, evaluation of disease resistance is mostly conducted in greenhouses and *in vitro*.

Insect resistance

The main focus of development of insect resistant rice has been on the insecticidal proteins from *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Bt) (High *et al.* 2004). Bt genes, such as *cry1Ab*, *cry1Ac* and *cry2A*, have been exploited to create rice resistant to Yellow Stem Borer and other lepidopteran pests. The effects of these genes have been well demonstrated, and the genes were introduced into various elite cultivars (Chen *et al.* 2005; Ho *et al.* 2006). Field evaluation of the resistant lines have been widely conducted mainly in Asian countries (Bashir *et al.* 2004; Chen *et al.* 2006).

Other insect resistance genes recently evaluated in transgenic rice are listed in **Table 4**. Various approaches are being taken and the examinations have been conducted mainly in growth chambers and greenhouses so far.

T 11 A	D.	• .		.1	1 / 1		
Table 4	Disease	resistance	genes	recently	evaluated	1n	transgenic rice
rable 5	Discuse	resistance	Series	recently	eranaatea		transgeme nee.

Gene	Origin	Expression	Elevated resistance to	Reference
Anti fungal protein (AFP)	Aspergillus giganteus	Constitutive	Blast (Magnaporthe grisea)	Coca et al. 2004
		Pathogen inducible	Blast	Moreno et al. 2005
Cecropin A	Silk moth (<i>Hyalophora cecropia</i>)	Constitutive	Blast	Coca et al. 2006
Non-specific-lipid transfer protein (Ace-AMP1)	Allium cepa	Constitutive, or pathogen inducible	Blast, sheath blight (<i>Rhizoctonia solani</i>) and bacterial blight (<i>Xanthomonas oryaze</i>)	Patkar and Chattoo 2006
Chitinase plus ribosome-inactivating protein	Rice and maize, respectively	Constitutive	Sheath blight	Kim et al. 2003
Thaumatin-like protein	Rice	Constitutive	Sheath blight	Kalpana et al. 2006
Chitinase plus thaumatin-like protein	Rice	Constitutive	Sheath blight (the resistance level was higher than a single gene)	Kalpana et al. 2006
Glucose oxidase	Aspergillus niger	Constitutive or pathogen inducible	Blast, bacterial blight	Kachroo <i>et al.</i> 2003
Mitogen-activated protein kinase 1	Pepper	Constitutive	Blast	Lee et al. 2004
Selenium-binding protein	Rice	Constitutive	Blast and bacterial blight	Sawada et al. 2004
Xa21	Rice	Own promoter	Bacterial blight	Narayanan <i>et al.</i> 2004; Zhai <i>et al.</i> 2004
Non-host resistance gene	Maize	Own promoter	Bacterial blight	Zhao et al. 2005
Mycotoxin detoxifying enzyme (lactonohydrolase)	Clonostachys rosea	Constitutive	Fusarium species	Higa-Nishiyama et al. 2005
Nucleocapsid protein	Rice hoja blanca virus	Constitutive	Rice hoja blanca virus	Lentini et al. 2003

Table 4 Insect resistance genes recently evaluated in transgenic rice.

Gene	Origin	Expression	Elevated resistance to	Reference
Bt (cry1Ab, cry1Ac, cry2A)	Bacillus thruringiensis	Constitutive	Yellow stem borer (Scripophaga incertulas)	Bashir et al. 2004;
			and rice leaf folder (Cnaphlocrocus	Chen et al. 2005;
			medinalis)	Chen et al. 2006;
				Ho et al. 2006
Lectin (GNA)	Snow drop (Galanthus nivalis)	Constitutive	Whitebacked planthopper (Sogatella furcifera)	Nagadhara et al.
				2004
Trypsin inhibitor	Barley	Constitutive	Weevil (Sitophilus oryzae)	Alfonso-Rubi et al.
				2003
Lectin (GNA) plus trypsin inhibitor	Snow drop and soy bean,	Constitutive	Nilaparvata lugens and rice leaf folder	Li et al. 2005
	respectively			
Avidin	Chicken	Endosperm	Flour beetle (Tribolium confusum) and	Yoza et al. 2005
		specific	angoumois grain moth (Sitotroga cerealella)	

Table 5 Examples of abiotic stress tolerance genes recently evaluated in transgenic rice.

Gene	Origin	Expression	Elevated tolerance to	Reference
DREB1/CBF	Arabidopsis	Constitutive	Drought and high salt	Oh <i>et al.</i> 2005; Ito <i>et al.</i> 2006
Choline oxidase for synthesis of glycine betaine	Arthrobacter pascens	Constitutive	High salt	Su et al. 2006
δ 1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase for synthesis of proline	Mothbean	Stress inducible	Drought and high salt	Su and Wu 2004
Trehalose-6-phosphage synthase plus trehalose-6- phosphate phosphatase	E. coli	Constitutive	Drought high salt and low temperature	Jang et al. 2003
Manganese superoxide dismutase	Pea	Stress inducible	Drought	Wang et al. 2005
Late embryogenesis abundance protein (LEA)	Barley	Constitutive	Drought	Babu et al. 2004
Calcineurin	Mouse	Constitutive	High salt	Ma et al. 2005
Arginine decarboxylase	Datura stramonium	Constitutive	Drought	Capell et al. 2004
N+/H+ antiporter	<i>E. coli</i> or yeast (<i>Schizosaccharomyces pombe</i>)	Constitutive	Drought and high salt	Wu et al. 2005 Zhao et al. 2006
Hsp101	Arabidopsis	Constitutive	Heat	Katiyar-Agarwal et al. 2003
Fertility restorer $(Rf-1)$ for cytoplasmic male sterility	Rice	Own promoter	Improved fertility at low temperature	Komori and Imaseki 2005
Nicotianamine aminotransferase in mugeneic acid biosynthetic pathway	Barley	Stress inducible	Fe deficiency	Takahashi 2003

Abiotic stress tolerance

The role of rice as a model plant seems to be more significant in the studies of stress tolerance than those in insect and disease resistance, because biological responses to abiotic stresses are less species-specific and tolerance to drought and salinity is more badly desired in other cereals like maize. Quite a few genes have been recently evaluated in this area (**Table 5**). One of the hot subjects among them is in the capability of transcription factors, such as DREB/CBF (dehydration-responsive element-binding/C-repeat-

binding) proteins (Ito *et al.* 2006), to turn on various defense genes. DREB/CBF genes from Arabidopsis and other species conferred on rice a strong level of tolerance to drought and salinity stresses.

Other genes which were evaluated and gave rice an elevated level of tolerance to drought and/or salinity stress are related to protectants of various cellular functions for osmotic, oxidative or other stresses. Other types of stress important in rice cultivation includes high or low temperatures and high or low concentrations of minerals and other soil components, and examples of such notable studies are cited

Table 6 Examples of genes evaluated for quality traits in transgenic rice.

Gene	Origin	Expression	Trait	Reference
Phytoene synthase (psy) plus phytoen desaturase (crtI)	psy: daffodil (<i>Narcissus</i> <i>pseudonarcissus</i>) or maize crtI: <i>Erwinia uredovora</i>	Endosperm	Golden Rice (production of β -carotene)	Ye <i>et al.</i> 2000; Al- Babili and Beyer 2005
Linolate isomerase	Propionibacterium acnes	Seed	Production of <i>trans</i> -10, <i>cis</i> -12 conjugated linoleic acid	Kohno-Murase <i>et al.</i> 2006
2S albumin	Sesame	Endosperm	High methionine and cysteine	Lee et al. 2003
Ferritin	Soy bean	Endosperm	High iron	Qu et al. 2005
Feed back-insensitive α subunit of anthranilate synthase	Rice	Constitutive	High tryptophan	Morino et al. 2005
Waxy	Rice	Down regulation	Low amylose evaluated in field	Liu et al. 2005
Xylanase	Clostridium thermocellum	Constitutive	Better digestibility by animals	Kimura et al. 2003
Thermostable amylopullulanase	Thermoanaerobacter ethanolicus	Endosperm	More efficient processing	Chiang et al. 2005

 Table 7 Examples of useful proteins produced in rice.

Protein	Origin	Expression	Application	Reference
Interleukin 11	Human	Constitutive	Production of therapeutic protein	Lee et al. 2005
Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor	Human	Constitutive	Production of therapeutic protein	Lee et al. 2005
Interferon-y	Human	Cell culture	Production of therapeutic protein	Chen et al. 2004
Lysozyme	Human	Endosperm	Production of therapeutic protein	Hennegan et al. 2005
Serum albumin	Human	Cell culture by sugar starvation inducible promoter	Production of therapeutic protein	Huang et al. 2005
α-1-antitrypsin	Human	Cell culture	Production of therapeutic protein	McDonald et al. 2005
T cell epitopes	Pollen of Japanese cedar	Endosperm	Edible vaccine	Takagi <i>et al.</i> 2005
	(Cryptomeria japonicum)			
Lactoferrin	Human	Endosperm	Supplement to infant food	Fujiyama et al. 2004

in Table 5.

Herbicide resistance is now a very important agronomic trait in transgenic maize and soybean. Various herbicide resistance genes have also been tested in rice. For example, a series of mammalian P450 genes were expressed in rice and several classes of herbicides were detoxified by the proteins produced by transgenic plants (Kawahigashi *et al.* 2005).

Quality traits

One of the epoch-making events in rice biotechnology was the creation of "Golden Rice" (Ye et al. 2000), which contains a substantial amount of β -carotene, a precursor of vitamin A, in the endosperm. The prototype of Golden Rice plants expressed bacterial phytoene synthase (PSY) and carotene desaturase (CRT1), and other genes have been employed in the transgenic rice produced later. Golden Rice is expected to help alleviate vitamin A deficiency, from which as many as 500,000 people are suffering in the world. Significant improvement was made with respect to the amount of carotenoids, the genotypes of rice, removal of the marker gene and other aspects, and some of the lines have already been evaluated in the field and appear to be close to the farmers' field. However, as discussed in a recent review (Al-Babili and Beyer 2005), there still appears to be a long way to go with tough regulatory and commercial hurdles before the lines are actually released as new varieties.

Other approaches to fortify rice nutritionally include modification of fatty acids, enrichment of specific amino acids, and higher accumulation of iron (**Table 6**). Modification of carbohydrates and expression of enzymes to help degrade carbohydrate have also been tested for better eating quality, higher digestibility or more efficient processing.

Production of proteins for pharmaceutical and industrial applications

Plants could be an efficient bio-reactor to produce proteins. Protein production in plants may be very inexpensive, and proteins from plants are free from human/animal pathogens and other undesired contaminants. While a major disadvantage of bacterial protein production systems is that products are not glycosylated, proteins produced in plants can be glycosylated in a way similar to that in mammals. Examples of proteins produced in rice in recent reports are listed in **Table 7**. Production of a number of therapeutic proteins have been tested in rice. Some proteins were intended to be used without purification. For example, rice grains that contain foreign proteins may be eaten as an "edible vaccine" or be used as food supplement. These studies have demonstrated that certain proteins may be produced abundantly in rice without losing their biological activities.

STRUCTURE AND EXPRESSION OF THE TRANSGENES IN RICE

How foreign genes are integrated in rice chromosomes and expressed in initial transformants and their progeny is of critical importance in maximizing the value of the transformation technology in basic and applied studies. Although information available in this respect in cereals had been rather limited compared to those in dicotyledons, a number of extensive studies have recently been reported on rice.

The structure of T-DNA, especially structures of the borders of T-DNA and flanking sequences, was investigated in a large number of transgenic rice plants (Kim *et al.* 2003). It was found that 35% of the transgenic lines contained a single copy of T-DNA and that many others contained direct repeats and/or inverted repeats of T-DNA. In addition, 45% of the transformants contained the vector backbone sequences, which were caused by the failure of T-strand termination at the left border (LB) or by initiation of DNA transfer from the LB.

A strain of *A. tumefaciens* that carried two vectors with distinctive T-DNA was used to transform rice, and the integration and expression patterns of the transferred genes were traced in the progeny populations of the rice plants (Vain *et al.* 2003). It was observed that the transfer of backbone sequences was found also in 45% of the lines, multiple copies of T-DNA were often integrated at separate loci, and 15-20% of the lines contained a single T-DNA without a backbone.

Multiple copies of the same sequences in the genome are often considered a cause of gene silencing. However, it was shown that gene silencing was actually caused by aberrant transcripts derived from rearranged organizations of transgenes and not by simple duplication of sequence in "super-transformed" rice plans that had already carried silenced transgenes (Yang et al. 2005).

Transfer of very large DNA segments is a very useful technique in rice genomics. Introduction of a 92-kb segment from wheat genome into rice was attempted, and the structures of the transgenes were analyzed by fluorescence *in situ* hybridization on extended DNA fibers (fiber FISH) (Nakano *et al.* 2005). The large T-DNA seemed to be somehow integrated in rice but was associated with extensive rearrangement by duplications, deletions and insertions.

These studies generally confirmed that patterns of T-DNA integration and expression of transgenes in rice were comparable to those in dicotyledons. Therefore, various phenomena related to the behavior of T-DNA in dicotyledons are probably relevant to cereals, and methods to cope with issues found in dicotyledons will likely be useful in cereals.

COMMERCIALIZATION OF TRANSGENIC RICE

More than 10 years have passed since commercial production of transgenic crops was started in 1996, but the release of genetically modified varieties of rice has been far behind that in front-running crops, such as soybean, maize, cotton and canola. At last, it was reported that Bt rice (*Cry1Ab*) was grown in 4000 hectares of field in Iran in 2005, which was the first commercial release of transgenic rice in the world (http://www.isaaa.org/). However, there appears to be no projection that rice will soon avidly follow the frontrunning crops, despite the fact that quite a few field trials of transgenic rice with traits like herbicide resistance, disease resistance, insect resistance, yield increase and production of value-added proteins are ongoing (http://www.isb.vt. edu/).

There may be several reasons for the delay of commercialization of transgenic rice. Rice is primarily a food crop and the majority of the production is directly consumed by humans. The ratio of the crop for direct consumption in rice is much higher than that in the fore-running crops, which are mainly used for feed and industrial processing. Therefore, public concerns over genetically modified crops are naturally higher for rice than for the fore-runners. This would inevitably result in a requirement for extensive testing and data collection in the evaluation of transgenic rice in food and environmental safety, increasing cost for regulatory approval and product development, which is already very high.

Major players in the development of transgenic crops are multinational agrochemical and seed companies. Although the scale of world-wide grain production of rice and maize is comparable, the rice seed market is much smaller in money value, more fragmented in terms of territories and varieties and more tightly regulated by governments than maize, making rice a much less attractive target crop for the seed industry. Therefore, public organizations have to play major roles. However, product development requires skills and experiences that are rarely found in public sector scientists. In this context, a large scale collaboration of public, academic and private organizations will be very useful, and providing funds from the public sector to private companies is a reasonable option (Al-Babili and Beyer 2005).

Technical hurdles may also be high. Lines of Golden Rice and Bt rice are probably in the most advanced stages of the field evaluation mainly in Asian countries among transgenic rice lines, followed closely by herbicide tolerant rice. Although there is no question that these lines will bring huge benefits, a single trait is not expected to resolve complicated problems. For example, the Golden Rice with the current level of β -carotene is not a simple answer to many people who are exhibiting vitamin A deficiency and are also suffering from general malnutrition. Unless plants are protected from multiple insects, a Bt trait alone cannot greatly reduce pesticide sprays. Application of herbicide tolerant rice may not be straightforward because rice cultivation practices are quite diverse. Therefore, development of a range of technologies to follow these traits is essential

for wide application of new technologies in rice, but many of the attractive genes are still in the stage of basic studies.

Another issue drawing recent attention is the gene flow from transgenic rice to the environment via pollen dispersal. A typical argument is that the escape of traits, such as herbicide tolerance, to weed or wild species may cause serious problems to the environment and agriculture, e.g., wide spreading of a weed that is difficult to control. However, it is generally believed that, because of the high rate of selfpollination in rice, the possibility of gene flow from transgenic rice to non-transgenic rice in adjacent fields or weeds, such as red rice (O. sativa), is naturally low. In fact, a number of field trials in rice confirmed that outcrossing rates were low, less than 1.0%, even if plants were planted close to each other (Zhang et al. 2003; Rong et al. 2005). Recent reviews (Gealy et al. 2003; Lu and Snow 2005) discussed this issue comprehensively and concluded that the extent of gene flow from cultivated rice to weedy relatives and wild species mediated by pollen is quite low and that dispersal of many types of transgenes from rice will not be harmful to the environment. These studies addressed the necessity of conducting thorough studies of environmental effects specific to the particular transgenic plants to be released, the regions where the plants are grown and the wild species present in the regions and of developing effective programs for proper management of transgenic seed, plants and grains. Such management programs would also help prevent gene flow via seed, which is potentially quite efficient, and contamination of food chains by unwanted transgenic grains.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Review of current scientific knowledge related to transgenic rice turned out to be an ambitious challenge. Hundreds of papers dealing with transgenic rice are being published each year in major journals, and the number is ever growing. Therefore, information from the limited number of references cited here mainly in the last 3 years and issues discussed in this review constitute a picture far from comprehensive but merely a glimpse of what is going on. Nevertheless, strong progress in rice molecular biology and biotechnology is evident.

Most of the genotypes of rice may be transformed very efficiently, and many molecular tools for efficient, precise delivery and expression of transgenes in rice are in place now. Transgenic rice is a key tool in genomics and molecular biology and has been continuously playing key roles in constructing a strong knowledge base. A significant number of useful transgenic traits have already been developed, and many others are to follow. Every important issue in plant science is addressed in studies of rice. Rice is indeed a remarkable crop characterized by the dual functions of a provider of scientific information and a staple food, and this position is unmatched by other plants with a growing mass of studies in basic and applied sciences.

Despite the great progress, we do not have an optimistic view that commercial release of transgenic rice varieties will be done on a large scale within a few years. Unfortunately, regulatory, commercial, social and technical hurdles for transgenic rice seem to be higher for transgenic plants than for some other species. However, despite the great difficulties, we do not have a pessimistic view either. The fraction of efforts, expertise and resources in the plant science community dedicated to rice is so large that all of the hurdles will eventually be overcome.

Organizing large scale collaborations or consortiums of public, academic and industrial scientists, which somewhat resemble the rice genome program, may be especially beneficial in two areas. One is for efficient, high-throughput transformation of diverse genotypes in rice, which requires well-conditioned glasshouse facilities to supply fresh immature embryos. The other is for product development and commercialization of transgenic lines, which must be driven by the public sector and requires expertise in the private sector.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Assistance by Ms. Kumiko Donovan is highly appreciated.

REFERENCES

- Al-Babili S, Beyer P (2005) Golden Rice five years on the road five years to go? *Trends Plant Science* 10, 565-573
- Aldemita RR, Hodges TK (1996) Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation of japonica and indica rice varieties. Planta 199, 612-617
- Alfonso-Rubí J, Ortego F, Castanera P, Carbonero P, Díaz I (2003) Transgenic expression of trypsin inhibitor CMe from barley in *indica* and *japonica* rice confers resistance to the rice weevil *Sitophilus oryzae*. *Transgenic Research* 12, 23-31
- An G, Lee S, Kim S-H, Kim S-R (2005) Molecular genetics using T-DNA in rice. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 46, 14-22
- Babu RC, Zhang J, Blum A, Ho T-HD, Wu R, Nguyen HT (2004) HVA1, a LEA gene from barley confers dehydration tolerance in transgenic rice (Oryza sativa L.) via cell membrane protection. Plant Science 166, 855-862
- Bashir K, Husnain T, Fatima T, Latif Z, Mehdi SA, Riazuddin S (2004) Field evaluation and risk assessment of transgenic indica basmati rice. *Molecular Breeding* 13, 301-312
- Begum HH, Osaki M, Shinano T, Miyatake H, Wasaki J, Yamamura T, Watanabe T (2005) The function of a maize-derived phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase (PEPC) in phosphorus-deficient transgenic rice. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* **51**, 497-506
- Breitler J-C, Meynard D, Van Boxtel J, Royer M, Bonnot F, Cambillau L, Guiderdoni E (2004) A novel two T-DNA binary vector allows efficient generation of marker-free transgenic plants in three elite cultivars of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Transgenic Research* 13, 271-287
- Cao M-X, Huang J-Q, Yao Q-H, Liu S-J, Wang C-L, Wei Z-M (2006) Sitespecific DNA excision in transgenic rice with a cell-permeable cre recombinase. *Molecular Biotechnology* 32, 55-63
- Capell T, Bassie L, Christou P (2004) Modulation of the polyamine biosynthetic pathway in transgenic rice confers tolerance to drought stress. *Proceedings of the National Academy Sciences USA* **101**, 9909-9914
- Chen H, Tang W, Xu C, Li X, Lin Y, Zhang Q (2005) Transgenic indica rice plants harboring a synthetic cry2A* gene of *Bacillus thuringiensis* exhibit enhanced resistance against lepidopteran rice pests. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 111, 1330-1337
- Chen M, Ye GY, Liu ZC, Yao HW, Chen XX, Shen SZ, Hu C, Datta SK (2006) Field assessment of the effects of transgenic rice expressing a fused gene of *cry1Ab* and *cry1Ac* from *Bacillus thuringiensis* Berliner on nontarget planthopper and leafhopper populations. *Environmental Entomology* 35, 127-134
- Chiang C-M, Yeh F-S, Huang L-F, Tseng T-H, Chung M-C, Wang C-S, Lur H-S, Shaw J-F, Yu S-M (2005) Expression of a bi-functional and thermostable amylopullulanase in transgenic rice seeds leads to autohydrolysis and altered composition of starch. *Molecular Breeding* 15, 125-143
- Christou P, Ford LT, Matt K (1991) Production of transgenic rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) plants from agronomically important indica and japonica varieties via electric discharge particle acceleration of exogenous DNA into immature zygotic embryos. *Bio/Technology* 9, 957-962
- Chung M-H, Chen M-K, Pan S-M (2000) Floral spray transformation can efficiently generate *Arabidopis* transgenic plants. *Transgenic Research* 9, 471-476
- Coca M, Bortolotti C, Rufat M, Penas G, Eritja R, Tharreau D, del Pozo AM, Messeguer J, San Segundo B (2004) Transgenic rice plants expressing the antifungal AFP protein from Aspergillus giganteus show enhanced resistance to the rice blast fungus Magnaporthe grisea. Plant Molecular Biology 54, 245-259
- Coca M, Penas G, Gomez J, Campo S, Bortolotti C, Messeguer J, San Segundo B (2006) Enhanced resistance to the rice blast fungus Magnaporthe grisea conferred by expression of a cecropin A gene in transgenic rice. Planta 223, 392-406
- **Cotsaftis O, Guiderdoni E** (2005) Enhancing gene targeting efficiency in higher plants: rice is on the move. *Transgenic Research* **14**, 1-14
- Garg AK, Sawers RJH, Wang H, Kim J-K, Walker JM, Brutnell TP, Parthasarathy MV, Vierstra RD, Wu RJ (2006) Light-regulated overexpression of an *Arabidopsis* phytochrome A gene in rice alters plant architecture and increases grain yield. *Planta* 223, 627-636
- Ge L, Chen H, Jiang J-F, Zhao Y, Xu M-L, Xu Y-Y, Tan K-H, Xu Z-H, Chong K (2004) Overexpression of *OsRAA1* causes pleiotropic phenotypes in transgenic rice plants, including altered leaf, flower, and root development and root response to gravity. *Plant Physiology* **135**, 1502-1513
- Gealy DR, Mitten DH, Rutger JN (2003) Gene flow between red rice (Oryza sativa) and herbicide-resistant rice (O. sativa): Implications for weed management. Weed Technology 17, 627-645
- Hayashi M, Takahashi H, Tamura K, Huang J, Yu LH, Kawai-Yamada M, Tezuka T, Uchimiya H (2005) Enhanced dihydroflavonol-4-reductase activity and NAD homeostasis leading to cell death tolerance in transgenic rice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 102, 7020-7025

- He RF, Wang Y, Shi Z, Ren X, Zhu L, Weng Q, He GC (2003) Construction of a genomic library of wild rice and *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation of large insert DNA linked to BPH resistance locus. *Gene* **321**, 113-121
- Hiei Y, Ishida Y, Kasaoka K, Komari T (2006) Improved frequency of transformation in rice and maize by treatment of immature embryos with centrifugation and heat prior to infection with *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **87**, 233-243
- Hiei Y, Komari T (2006) Improved protocols for transformation of indica rice mediated by Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 85, 271-283
- Hiei Y, Ohta S, Komari T, Kumashiro T (1994) Efficient transformation of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) mediated by *Agrobacterium* and sequence analysis of the boundaries of the T-DNA. *The Plant Journal* 6, 271-282
- Higa-Nishiyama A, Takahashi-Ando N, Shimizu T, Kudo T, Yamaguchi I, Kimura M (2005) A model transgenic cereal plant with detoxification activity for the estrogenic mycotoxin zearalenone. *Transgenic Research* 14, 713-717
- High SM, Cohen MB, Shu QY, Altosaar I (2004) Achieving successful deployment of *Bt* rice. *Trends Plant Science* 9, 286-292
- Ho NH, Baisakh N, Oliva N, Datta K, Frutos R, Datta SK (2006) Translational fusion hybrid Bt genes confer resistance against yellow stem borer in transgenic elite Vietnamese rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) cultivars. *Crop Science* 46, 781-789
- Hoque ME, Mansfield JW, Bennett MH (2005) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of Indica rice genotypes: an assessment of factors affecting the transformation efficiency. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 82, 45-55
- Hoque MS, Masle J, Udvardi MK, Ryan PR, Upadhyaya NM (2006) Overexpression of the rice OsAMT1-1 gene increases ammonium uptake and content, but impairs growth and development of plants under high ammonium nutrition. Functional Plant Biology 33, 153-163
- Hsiao P, Sanjaya, Su R-C, Teixeira da Silva JA, Chan M-T (2007) Plant native tryptophan synthase beta 1 gene is a non-antibiotic selection marker for plant transformation. *Planta* 225, 897-906
- Iida S, Terada R (2004) A tale of two integrations, transgene and T-DNA: gene targeting by homologous recombination in rice. *Current Opinion in Biotech*nology 15, 132-138
- International Rice Genome Project (2005) The map-based sequence of the rice genome. *Nature* **436**, 793-800
- Ito Y, Katsura K, Maruyama K, Taji T, Kobayashi M, Seki M, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2006) Functional analysis of rice DREB1/CBFtype transcription factors involved in cold-responsive gene expression in transgenic rice. *Plant and Cell Physiology* **47**, 141-153
- Jang I-C, Oh S-J, Seo J-S, Choi W-B, Song SI, Kim CH, Kim YS, Seo H-S, Choi YD, Nahm BH, Kim J-K (2003) Expression of a bifunctional fusion of the *Escherichia coli* genes for trehalose-6-phosphate synthase and trehalose-6-phosphate phosphatase in transgenic rice plants increases trehalose accumulation and abiotic stress tolerance without stunting growth. *Plant Physiology* 131, 516-524
- Jang S-M, Ishihara A, Back K (2004) Production of coumaroylserotonin and feruloylserotonin in transgenic rice expressing pepper hydroxycinnamoylcoenzyme A:Serotonin N-(hydroxycinnamoyl) transferase. *Plant Physiology* 135, 346-356
- Jeong D-H, An S, Park S, Kang H-G, Park G-G, Kim S-R, Sim J, Kim Y-O, Kim M-K, Kim S-R, Kim J, Shin M, Jung M, An G (2006) Generation of a flanking sequence-tag database for activation-tagging lines in japonica rice. *The Plant Journal* 45, 123-132
- Jiao DM, Li X, Ji BH (2005) Photoprotective effects of high level expression of C₄ phospho*enolpy*ruvate carboxylase in transgenic rice during photoinhibition. *Photosynthetica* 43, 501-508
- Johnson AAT, Hibberd JM, Gay C, Essah PA, Haseloff J, Tester M, Guiderdoni E (2005) Spatial control of transgene expression in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) using the GAL4 enhancer trapping system. *The Plant Journal* 41, 779-789
- Jung S, Yang K, Lee D-E, Back K (2004) Expression of Bradyrhizobium japonicum 5-aminolevulinic acid synthase induces severe photodynamic damage in transgenic rice. Plant Science 167, 789-795
- Kachroo A, He Z, Patkar R, Zhu Q, Zhong J, Li D, Ronald P, Lamb C, Chattoo BB (2003) Induction of H₂O₂ in transgenic rice leads to cell death and enhanced resistance to both bacterial and fungal pathogens. *Transgenic Research* 12, 577-586
- Kalpana K, Maruthasalam S, Rajesh T, Poovannan K, Kumar KK, Kokiladevi E, Raja JAJ, Sudhakar D, Velazhahan R, Samiyappan R, Balasubramanian P (2006) Engineering sheath blight resistance in elite indica rice cultivars using genes encoding defense proteins. *Plant Science* 170, 203-215
- Katiyar-Agarwal S, Agarwal M, Grover A (2003) Heat-tolerant basmati rice engineered by over-expression of *hsp101*. *Plant Molecular Biology* 51, 677-686
- Kawahigashi H, Hirose S, Inui H, Ohkawa H, Ohkawa Y (2005) Enhanced herbicide cross-tolerance in transgenic rice plants co-expressing human CYP1A1, CYP2B6, and CYP2C19. *Plant Science* 168, 773-781
- Kim J-k, Jang I-C, Wu R, Zuo W-N, Boston RS, Lee Y-H, Ahn I-P, Nahm BH (2003) Co-expression of a modified maize ribosome-inactivating protein and a rice basic chitinase gene in transgenic rice plants confers enhanced resistance to sheath blight. *Transgenic Research* 12, 475-484

- Kim K-M, Lee DE, Song H, Kuk YI, Jung S, Guh JO, Baenziger PS, Back K (2004) Influence of a selectable marker gene *hpt* on agronomic performance in transgenic rice. *Cereal Research Communications* 32, 9-16
- Kim S-R, Lee J, Jun S-H, Park S, Kang H-G, Kwon S, An G (2003) Transgene structures in T-DNA-inserted rice plants. *Plant Molecular Biology* 52, 761-773
- Kimura T, Mizutani T, Tanaka T, Koyama T, Sakka K, Ohmiya K (2003) Molecular breeding of transgenic rice expressing a xylanase domain of the *xynA* gene from *Clostridium thermocellum. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 62, 374-379
- Klöti A, Potrykus I (1999) Rice improvement by genetic transformation. In: Shimamoto K (Ed) Molecular Biology of Rice, Springer-Verlag, Tokyo, pp 283-301
- Kohno-Murase J, Iwabuchi M, Endo-Kasahara S, Sugita K, Ebinuma H, Imamura J (2006) Production of *trans*-10, *cis*-12 conjugated linoleic acid in rice. *Transgenic Research* 15, 95-100
- Komari T, Hiei Y, Saito Y, Murai N, Kumashiro T (1996) Vectors carrying two separate T-DNAs for co-transformation of higher plants mediated by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* and segregation of transformants free from selection markers. *The Plant Journal* 10, 165-174
- Komari T, Takakura Y, Ueki J, Kato N, Ishida Y, Hiei Y (2006) Binary vectors and super-binary vectors. In: Wang K (Ed) Methods in Molecular Biology (Vol 343): Agrobacterium Protocols (2nd Edn, Vol 1), Humana Press Inc., Totowa, NJ, pp 15-41
- Komori T, Imaseki H (2005) Transgenic rice hybrids that carry the *Rf-1* gene at multiple loci show improved fertility at low temperature. *Plant Cell and Environment* 28, 425-431
- Komori T, Ohta S, Murai N, Takakura Y, Kuraya Y, Suzuki S, Hiei Y, Imaseki H, Nitta N (2004) Map-based cloning of a fertility restorer gene, *Rf-1*, in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *The Plant Journal* **37**, 315-325
- Koyama T, Ono T, Shimizu M, Jinbo T, Mizuno R, Tomita K, Mitsukawa N, Kawazu T, Kimura T, Ohmiya K, Sakka K (2005) Promoter of Arabidopsis thaliana phosphate transporter gene drives root-specific expression of transgene in rice. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering 99, 38-42
- Kumar KK, Maruthasalam S, Loganathan M, Sudhakar D, Balasubramanian P (2005) An improved Agrobacterium-mediated transformation protocol for recalcitrant elite indica rice cultivars. Plant Molecular Biology Reporter 23, 67-73
- Kuraya Y, Ohta S, Fukuda M, Hiei Y, Murai N, Hamada K, Ueki J, Imaseki H, Komari T (2004) Suppression of transfer of non-T-DNA "vector backbone" sequences by multiple left border repeats in vectors for transformation of higher plants mediated by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Molecular Breeding* 14, 309-320
- LaFayette PR, Kane PM, Phan BH, Parrott WA (2005) Arabitol dehydrogenase as a selectable marker for rice. *Plant Cell Reports* 24, 596-602
- Lee D-E, Back K (2005) Ectopic expression of MAP kinase inhibits germination and seedling growth in transgenic rice. *Plant Growth Regulation* 45, 251-257
- Lee D-E, Lee I-J, Han O, Baik M-G, Han S-S, Back K (2004) Pathogen resistance of transgenic rice plants expressing mitogen-activated protein kinase 1, MK1, from *Capsicum annuum*. *Molecular Cells* **17**, 81-85
- Lee TTT, Wang MMC, Hou RCW, Chen L-J, Su R-C, Wang C-S, Tzen JTC (2003) Enhanced methionine and cysteine levels in transgenic rice seeds by the accumulation of sesame 2S albumin. *Bioscience, Biotechnology* and *Biochemistry* 67, 1699-1705
- Lentini Z, Lozano I, Tabares E, Fory L, Dominguez J, Cuervo M, Calvert L (2003) Expression and inheritance of hypersensitive resistance to rice hoja blanca virus mediated by the viral nucleocapsid protein gene in transgenic rice. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **106**, 1018-1026
- Li G, Xu X, Xing H, Zhu H, Fan Q (2005) Insect resistance to *Nilaparvata lugens* and *Cnaphalocrocis medinalis* in transgenic indica rice and the inheritance of *gna* plus *sbti* transgenes. *Pest Management Science* 61, 390-396
- Li Y-F, Zhu R, Xu P (2005) Activation of the gene promoter of barley β-1,3glucanase isoenzyme GIII is salicylic acid (SA)-dependent in transgenic rice plants. *Journal of Plant Research* 118, 215-221
- Lin YJ, Zhang Q (2005) Optimising the tissue culture conditions for high efficiency transformation of indica rice. *Plant Cell Reports* 23, 540-547
- Liu Q-Q, Yu H-X, Chen X-H, Cai X-L, Tang S-Z, Wang Z-Y, Gu M-H (2005) Field performance of transgenic *indica* hybrid rice with improved cooking and eating quality by down-regulation of *Wx* gene expression. *Molecular Breeding* **16**, 199-208
- Lu B-R, Snow AA (2005) Gene flow from genetically modified rice and its environmental consequences. *Bioscience* 55, 669-678
- Ma X, Qian Q, Zhu D (2005) Expression of a calcineurin gene improves salt stress tolerance in transgenic rice. *Plant Molecular Biology* **58**, 483-495
- Martinez-Trujillo M, Cabrera-Ponce JL, Herrera-Estrella L (2003) Improvement of rice transformation using bombardment of scutellum-derived calli. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* 21, 429-437
- Maruta Y, Ueki J, Saito H, Nitta N, Imaseki H (2001) Transgenic rice with reduced glutelin content by transformation with glutelin A antisense gene. *Molecular Breeding* **8**, 273-284

Mizuno K, Takahashi W, Ohyama T, Shimada T, Tanaka O (2004) Improvement of the aluminum borate whisker-mediated method of DNA delivery into rice callus. Plant Production Science 7, 45-49

- Moore SK, Srivastava V (2006) Efficient deletion of transgenic DNA from complex integration locus of rice mediated by *Cre/lox* recombination system. *Crop Science* 46, 700-705
- Moreno AB, Penas G, Rufat M, Bravo JM, Estopa M, Messeguer J, San Segundo B (2005) Pathogen-induced production of the antifungal AFP protein from Aspergillus giganteus confers resistance to the blast fungus Magnaporthe grisea in transgenic rice. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 18, 960-972
- Morino K, Matsuda F, Miyazawa H, Sukegawa A, Miyagawa H, Wakasa K (2005) Metabolic profiling of tryptophan-overproducing rice calli that express a feedback-insensitive α subunit of anthranilate synthase. *Plant and Cell Physiology* **46**, 514-521
- Nagadhara D, Ramesh S, Pasalu IC, Rao YK, Sarma NP, Reddy VD, Rao KV (2004) Transgenic rice plants expressing the snowdrop lectin gene (gna) exhibit high-level resistance to the whitebacked planthopper (Sogatella furcifera). Theoretical and Applied Genetics 109, 1399-1405
- Nakamura A, Umemura I, Gomi K, Hasegawa Y, Kitano H, Sazuka T, Matsuoka M (2006) Production and characterization of auxin-insensitive rice by overexpression of a mutagenized rice IAA protein. *The Plant Journal* 46, 297-306
- Nakano A, Suzuki G, Yamamoto M, Turnbull K, Rahman S, Mukai Y (2005) Rearrangements of large-insert T-DNAs in transgenic rice. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics* 273, 123-129
- Narayanan NN, Baisakh N, Oliva NP, Vera Cruz CM, Gnanamanickam SS, Datta K, Datta SK (2004) Molecular breeding: marker-assisted selection combined with biolistic transformation for blast and bacterial blight resistance in Indica rice (cv. CO39). *Molecular Breeding* 14, 61-71
- Nemoto Y, Kisaka M, Fuse T, Yano M, Ogihara Y (2003) Characterization and functional analysis of three wheat genes with homology to the *CONS*-*TANS* flowering time gene in transgenic rice. *The Plant Journal* **36**, 82-93
- Nishimura A, Ashikari M, Lin S, Takashi T, Angeles ER, Yamamoto T, Matsuoka M (2005) Isolation of a rice regeneration quantitative trait loci gene and its application to transformation systems. *Proceedings of the Natio*nal Academy of Sciences USA 102, 11940-11944
- Nomura M, Higuchi T, Katayama K, Taniguchi M, Miyao-Tokutomi M, Matsuoka M, Tajima S (2005) The promoter for C-4-type mitochondrial aspartate aminotransferase does not direct bundle sheath-specific expression in transgenic rice plants. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 46, 743-753
- Ochiai-Fukuda T, Takahashi-Ando N, Ohsato S, Igawa T, Kadokura K, Hamamoto H, Nakasako M, Kudo T, Shibata T, Yamaguchi I, Kimura M (2006) A fluorescent antibiotic resistance marker for rapid production of transgenic rice plants. *Journal of Biotechnology* **122**, 521-527
- Oh S-J, Jeong JS, Kim E-H, Yi NR, Yi S-I, Jang I-C, Kim YS, Suh S-C, Nahm BH, Kim J-K (2005) Matrix attachment region from the chicken lysozyme locus reduces variability in transgene expression and confers copy number-dependence in transgenic rice plants. *Plant Cell Reports* 24, 145-154
- Oh S-J, Song SI, Kim YS, Jang H-J, Kim SY, Kim M, Kim Y-K, Nahm BH, Kim J-K (2005) Arabidopsis CBF3/DREB1A and ABF3 in transgenic rice increased tolerance to abiotic stress without stunting growth. *Plant Physiology* 138, 341-351
- Ono K, Sasaki H, Hara T, Kobayashi K, Ishimaru K (2003) Changes in photosynthetic activity and export of carbon by overexpressing a maize sucrosephosphate synthase gene under elevated CO₂ in transgenic rice. *Plant Production Science* 6, 281-286
- Oreifig AS, Kovacs G, Jenes B, Kiss E, Scott P, Toldi O (2004) Development of a non-lethal selection system by using the aadA marker gene for efficient recovery of transgenic rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Plant Cell Reports* 22, 490-496
- Ozawa K, Kawahigashi H (2006) Positional cloning of the nitrite reductase gene associated with good growth and regeneration ability of calli and establishment of a new selection system for *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Plant Science* **170**, 384-393
- Park MC, Shin J, Kim N, Cho H, Park S, An K, Lee S, An G (2003) Highfrequency Agrobacterium-mediated genetic transformation of Tongil rice varieties. Journal of Plant Biology 46, 23-30
- Patkar RN, Chattoo BB (2006) Transgenic *indica* rice expressing ns-LTP-Like protein shows enhanced resistance to both fungal and bacterial pathogens. *Molecular Breeding* 17, 159-171
- Qu LQ, Yoshihara T, Ooyama A, Goto F, Takaiwa F (2005) Iron accumulation does not parallel the high expression level of ferritin in transgenic rice seeds. *Planta* 222, 225-233
- Rachmawati D, Hosaka T, Inoue E, Anzai H (2004) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of Javanica rice cv. Rojolele. *Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry* 68, 1193-1200
- Reuzeau C, Frankard V, Hatzfeld Y, Sanz A, van Camp W, Lejeune P, de Wilde C, Lievens K, de Wolf J, Vranken E, Peerbolte R, Broekaert W (2006) TraitmillTM: a functional genomics platform for the phenotypic analysis of cereals. *Plant Genetic Resources* **4**, 20-24
- Rong J, Song Z, Su J, Xia H, Lu B-R, Wang F (2005) Low frequency of transgene flow from Bt/CpTI rice to its nontransgenic counterparts planted at close spacing. New Phytologist 168, 559-566
- Ryu C-H, You J-H, Kang H-G, Hur J, Kim Y-H, Han M-J, An K, Chung B-C, Lee C-H, An G (2004) Generation of T-DNA tagging lines with a bidirec-

tional gene trap vector and the establishment of an insertion-site database. *Plant Molecular Biology* **54**, 489-502

- Sakamoto T, Morinaka Y, Ishiyama K, Kobayashi M, Itoh H, Kayano T, Iwahori S, Matsuoka M, Tanaka H (2003) Genetic manipulation of gibberellin metabolism in transgenic rice. *Nature Biotechnology* 21, 909-913
- Sakulsingharoj C, Choi S-B, Hwang S-K, Edwards GE, Bork J, Meyer CR, Preiss J, Okita TW (2004) Engineering starch biosynthesis for increasing rice seed weight: the role of the cytoplasmic ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase. *Plant Science* 167, 1323-1333
- Sallaud C, Gay C, Larmande P, Bes M, Piffanelli P, Piegu B, Droc G, Regad F, Bourgeois E, Meynard D, Perin C, Sabau X, Ghesquiere A, Glaszmann JC, Delseny M, Guiderdoni E (2004) High throughput T-DNA insertion mutagenesis in rice: a first step towards *in silico* reverse genetics. *Plant Journal* 39, 450-464
- Sawada K, Hasegawa M, Tokuda L, Kameyama J, Kodama O, Kohchi T, Yoshida K, Shinmyo A (2004) Enhanced resistance to blast fungus and bacterial blight in transgenic rice constitutively expressing OsSBP, a rice homologue of mammalian selenium-binding proteins. Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry 68, 873-880
- Sreekala C, Wu L, Gu K, Wang D, Tian D, Yin Z (2005) Excision of a selectable marker in transgenic rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) using a chemically regulated Cre/loxP system. Plant Cell Reports 24, 86-94
- Sreevidya VS, Hernandez-Oane RJ, So RB, Sullia SB, Stacey G, Ladha JK, Reddy PM (2005) Expression of the legume symbiotic lectin genes *psl* and *gs52* promotes rhizobial colonization of roots in rice. *Plant Science* 169, 726-736
- Su J, Hirji R, Zhang L, He C, Selvaraj G, Wu R (2006) Evaluation of the stress-inducible production of choline oxidase in transgenic rice as a strategy for producing the stress-protectant glycine betaine. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 57, 1129-1135
- Su J, Wu R (2004) Stress-inducible synthesis of proline in transgenic rice confers faster growth under stress conditions than that with constitutive synthesis. *Plant Science* 166, 941-948
- Supartana P, Shimizu T, Shioiri H, Nogawa M, Nozue M, Kojima M (2005) Development of simple and efficient *in planta* transformation method for rice (Oryza sativa L.) using Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering 100, 391-397
- Suzuki S, Burnell JN (2003) The pck1 promoter from *Urochloa panicoides* (a C₄ plant) directs expression differently in rice (a C₃ plant) and maize (a C₄ plant). *Plant Science* **165**, 603-611
- Suzuki S, Murai N, Kasaoka K, Hiyoshi T, Imaseki H, Burnell JN, Arai M (2006) Carbon metabolism in transgenic rice plants that express phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase and/or phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase. Plant Science 170, 1010-1019
- Takahashi M (2003) Overcoming Fe deficiency by a transgenic approach in rice. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 72, 211-220
- Tanaka Y, Fukuda A, Nagai S, Fujiwara T, Suzuki Y, Yamaguchi I, Yoneyama T, Hayashi H (2004) Expression of a single-chain antibody against GA_{24/19} in vascular tissues induces dwarf phenotype for rice plants. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* **50**, 1281-1285
- Terada R, Urawa H, Inagaki Y, Tsugane K, Iida S (2002) Efficient gene targeting by homologous recombination in rice. *Nature Biotechnology* 20, 1030-1034
- Toki S, Hara N, Ono K, Onodera H, Tagiri A, Oka S, Tanaka H (2006) Early infection of scutellum tissue with *Agrobacterium* allows high-speed transformation of rice. *The Plant Journal* **47**, 969-976
- Toriyama K, Chiba A, Nakagawa Y (2003) Visualization of somatic deletions mediated by R/RS site-specific recombination and induction of germinal deletions caused by callus differentiation and regeneration in rice. *Plant Cell Reports* 21, 605-610
- Vain P, Afolabi AS, Worland B, Snape JW (2003) Transgene behaviour in populations of rice plants transformed using a new dual binary vector system: pGreen/pSoup. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 107, 210-217
- Vain P, Harvey A, Worland B, Ross S, Snape JW, Lonsdale D (2004) The

effect of additional virulence genes on transformation efficiency, transgene integration and expression in rice plants using the pGreen/pSoup dual binary vector system. *Transgenic Research* **13**, 593-603

- Verma D, Verma M, Dey M, Jain RK, Wu R (2005) Molecular dissection of the tobacco *Rb7 matrix* attachment region (MAR): Effect of 5' half on gene expression in rice. *Plant Science* 169, 704-711
- Visarada KBRS, Sarma NP (2004) Transformation of indica rice through particle bombardment: factors influencing transient expression and selection. *Biologia Plantarum* 48, 25-31
- Wang F-Z, Wang Q-B, Kwon S-Y, Kwak S-S, Su W-A (2005) Enhanced drought tolerance of transgenic rice plants expressing a pea manganese superoxide dismutase. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 162, 465-472
- Wang J, Oard JH (2003) Rice ubiquitin promoters: deletion analysis and potential usefulness in plant transformation systems. *Plant Cell Reports* 22, 129-134
- Wang Z, Zou Y, Li X, Zhang Q, Chen L, Wu H, Su D, Chen Y, Guo J, Luo D, Long Y, Zhong Y, Liu Y-G (2006) Cytoplasmic male sterility of rice with boro II cytoplasm is caused by a cytotoxic peptide and is restored by two related PPR motif genes via distinct modes of mRNA silencing. *Plant Cell* 18, 676-687
- Wong HL, Sakamoto T, Kawasaki T, Umemura K, Shimamoto K (2004) Down-regulation of metallothionein, a reactive oxygen scavenger, by the small GTPase OsRac1 in rice. *Plant Physiology* 135, 1447-1456
- Wu L, Fan Z, Guo L, Li Y, Chen Z-L, Qu L-J (2005) Over-expression of the bacterial *nhaA* gene in rice enhances salt and drought tolerance. *Plant Science* 168, 297-302
- Xu Y-H, Zhu Y-Y, Zhou H-C, Li Q, Sun Z-X, Liu Y-G, Lin H-X, He Z-H (2004) Identification of a 98-kb DNA segment containing the rice *Eui* gene controlling uppermost internode elongation, and construction of a TAC transgene sublibrary. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics* 272, 149-155
- Xue H, Yang Y-T, Wu C-A, Yang G-D, Zhang M-M, Zheng C-C (2005) TM2, a novel strong matrix attachment region isolated from tobacco, increases transgene expression in transgenic rice calli and plants. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 110, 620-627
- Yamada T, Tozawa Y, Hasegawa H, Terakawa T, Ohkawa Y, Wakasa K (2004) Use of a feedback-insensitive α subunit of anthranilate synthase as a selectable marker for transformation of rice and potato. *Molecular Breeding* 14, 363-373
- Yang G, Lee Y-H, Jiang Y, Kumpatla SP, Hall TC (2005) Organization, not duplication, triggers silencing in a complex transgene locus in rice. *Plant Molecular Biology* 58, 351-366
- Ye X, Al-Babili S, Kloti A, Zhang J, Lucca P, Beyer P, Potrykus I (2000) Engineering the provitamin A (β-carotene) biosynthetic pathway into (carotenoid-free) rice endosperm. *Science* 287, 303-305
- Yoza K, Imamura T, Kramer KJ, Morgan TD, Nakamura S, Akiyama K, Kawasaki S, Takaiwa F, Ohtsubo K (2005) Avidin expressed in transgenic rice confers resistance to the stored-product insect pests *Tribolium confusum* and *Sitotroga cerealella*. *Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry* 69, 966-971
- Zhai W, Chen C, Zhu X, Chen X, Zhang D, Li X, Zhu L (2004) Analysis of T-DNA-*Xa21* loci and bacterial blight resistance effects of the transgene *Xa21* in transgenic rice. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **109**, 534-542
- Zhang N, Linscombe S, Oard J (2003) Out-crossing frequency and genetic analysis of hybrids between transgenic glufosinate herbicide-resistant rice and the weed, red rice. *Euphytica* 130, 35-45
- Zhang S, Hu W, Wang L, Lin C, Cong B, Sun C, Da L (2005) *TFL1/CEN*-like genes control intercalary meristem activity and phase transition in rice. *Plant Science* 168, 1393-1408
- Zhao B, Lin X, Poland J, Trick H, Leach J, Hulbert S (2005) A maize resistance gene functions against bacterial streak disease in rice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 102, 15383-15388
- Zhao F, Guo S, Zhang H, Zhao Y (2006) Expression of yeast SOD2 in transgenic rice results in increased salt tolerance. *Plant Science* **170**, 216-224